BEFORE THE WEST VIRGINIA INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS

No. 23-ICA-248

ICA EFiled: Aug 28 2023 05:01PM EDT

Transaction ID 70733531

CHARLESTON GAZETTE-MAIL d/b/a HD MEDIA, LLC,

Petitioner, Plaintiff below,

v.

WEST VIRGINIA UNIVERSITY BOARD OF GOVERNORS,

Respondent, Defendant below.

PETITIONER'S APPEAL BRIEF

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MONONGALIA COUNTY, WEST VIRGINIA

Lonnie C. Simmons (W.Va. I.D. No. 3406)
Robert M. Bastress, III (W.Va. I.D. No. 9616)

DIPIERO SIMMONS MCGINLEY & BASTRESS, PLLC
P.O. Box 1631
Charleston, West Virginia 25326
(304) 342-0133
lonnie.simmons@dbdlawfirm.com

Counsel for Petitioner Charleston Gazette-Mail d/b/a HD Media, LLC

I. Introduction

To the Honorable Judges of the West Virginia

Intermediate Court of Appeals:

Recently West Virginia University made national news when it revealed it has a \$45 million budget shortfall, which it claims will necessitate massive reductions in programs offered as well as the number of professors retained. For many, this news came as a shock and has left people to speculate what caused this financial and academic crisis in the first place. At the time this brief was written, the recommended remedy is to eliminate 9% of WVU's majors (32 programs in total), all foreign language programs, and 16% of its faculty members (169 in total). There have been accusations of financial mismanagement: "WVU, like many higher-education institutions, has been

¹https://slate.com/human-interest/2023/08/west-virginia-university-cuts-programs.html.

plagued by gross financial mismanagement by administrators and consultants who have funneled money into massive administrative bloat and capital projects at the expense of faculty hires and support for faculty and graduate students."² (Emphasis added). In addition to allegations of financial mismanagement, many have commented on WVU's lack of transparency: "[S]ome say they had no warning the funding shortfall was coming before the news went public in the spring; "[T]he process will damage the institution's status as a research institution and that decision making about layoffs has not been transparent."; and "Their proposal is a result of financial mismanagement, lack of institutional transparency, and an astonishing failure to recognize the power of education in transforming the lives of West Virginians." (Emphasis added).

So what does the financial crisis and proposed draconian cutbacks at WVU have to do with the present case? As demonstrated in this case, Respondent WVU Board of Governors has a history of excluding the public from observing its deliberations on many issues of great interest, including WVU's budget, capital improvements, tuition and fees, the business college, emergency pay policy, response to COVID-19, Title IX regulations, and matters related to a petition alleging racial discrimination at WVU. These specific topics, most of which were never listed in any of the Meeting Agendas, were discussed illegally by Respondent in executive session and are the topics at issue in this litigation. WVU's lack of transparency clearly violates the West Virginia Open

²https://www.thenation.com/article/society/wvu-cuts-higher-education/.

 $^{^3}$ https://westvirginiawatch.com/2023/07/20/wvu-faculty-students-organizing-amid-looming-cuts-to-programs-and-jobs/.

⁴https://www.cbsnews.com/pittsburgh/news/west-virginia-university-approves-7m-in-staff -cuts-3-tuition-increase-3/.

⁵https://slate.com/human-interest/2023/08/west-virginia-university-cuts-programs.html.

Governmental Proceedings Act (WVOGPA) and helps to explain why so many people were shocked to learn about WVU's financial and academic issues.

The WVOGPA requires all West Virginia governing bodies, including Respondent, to provide prior notice of their official meetings with a list of the issues to be addressed and to hold the meetings in public so that any interested person can witness and participate in the process of how decisions are made. During the open deliberations, the public sees the governing body present facts, ask questions, and discuss the issues. By showing "how the sausage is made," the public gains a greater appreciation and understanding of the rationale behind the decisions subsequently made. However, for reasons that never were made clear in the record, Respondent regularly chose to ignore the mandates of the WVOGPA and to go into executive session to discuss issues of great interest to the public.

Because Respondent routinely failed to hold open meetings on the foregoing issues of public interest, Petitioner Charleston Gazette-Mail d/b/a HD Media, LLC, sued Respondent in the Circuit Court of Monongalia County for injunctive and declaratory relief under the WVOGPA seeking an order requiring Respondent to abide by the law. After developing the record, Petitioner and Respondent briefed the legal issues raised and filed cross motions for summary judgment.

In two separate orders, the Honorable Judge Cindy Scott granted summary judgment for Respondent, effectively approving Respondent's actions to discuss the identified issues in executive session. Petitioner respectfully submits these orders are unprecedented, unsupported by any case law, contrary to the decisions of the West Virginia Supreme Court, and inconsistent with the WVOGPA's language. Consequently, Petitioner appeals these final orders so this Court can uphold the principles of open government mandated by the Legislature through its adoption of the WVOGPA.

II. Assignments of error

Whether the trial court erred in granting Respondent's summary judgment motion and denying Petitioner's cross motion for summary judgment based upon its interpretation of the WVOGPA where:

- A. The trial court agreed with Petitioner's argument that the June 19, 2020 Meeting Agenda failed to comply with the WVOGPA's notice requirements, but ignored this violation by concluding it was merely "technical";
- B. Respondent failed to follow the procedure set out in *Peters v. County Commission of Wood County*, 205 W.Va. 481, 519 S.E.2d 179 (1999), for asserting a claim of attorney-client privilege to go into executive session; therefore, this assertion of privilege cannot be sustained;
- C. In an unprecedented decision, the trial court incorporated all of the exceptions under the West Virginia Freedom of Information Act (WVFOIA) as exceptions under the WVOGPA and used some of the WVFOIA exceptions to justify Respondent's decision to discuss matters in executive session that should have been open to the public;
- D. The trial court's overly expansive reading of the limited "commercial competition" exception found in W.Va.Code § 6-9A-4(b)(9), was inconsistent with existing case law, where the WVOGPA exceptions must be narrowly construed, and if upheld, this exception would swallow up all of the laudatory goals the Legislature sought to achieve by ensuring the public has the right to observe the discussions and deliberations of all governing bodies under the WVOGPA; and
- E. Petitioner is entitled to an award of attorneys' fees, based upon the multiple violations of the WVOGPA committed by Respondent?

III. Statement of the case

In a WVOGPA case, the governing body has made a deliberate decision to exclude the public from portions of its open meetings to discuss certain topics. When this occurs, the burden is on the governing body to explain how any of the very narrow exceptions under the WVOGPA apply. Thus, although Respondent attempted to complicate this case by providing affidavits from alleged "experts," two of whom are from other states and one of whom actually is employed by WVU employees while the other used to be a member of Respondent, there is no real dispute over the relevant facts.⁶

As a general rule, an expert witness may not testify as to questions of law such as the principles of law applicable to a case, the interpretation of a statute, the meaning of terms in a statute, the interpretation of case law, or the legality of conduct. It is the role of the trial judge to determine, interpret and apply the law applicable to a case.

See also Jackson v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co., 215 W.Va. 634, 600 S.E.2d 346 (2004); Evergrass, Inc. v. Town of Lexington, 2004 WL 231320, n.11 (Mass.Sup.Ct. 2004)("Expert testimony to 'explain the intricacies of municipal law with relation to compliance with public bidding law and the open meeting law' would be inadmissable, even if the complaint alleged a violation of such laws. Issues of law are for the Court, not for expert witnesses."). (Emphasis added).

Despite this case law, the trial court cited the "expert" affidavits provided and commented that Petitioner failed to present any expert witnesses. Respondent's "expert" witnesses included James Robert Alsop, WVU's Vice President for Strategic Affairs, and Thomas V. Flaherty, former Chair of Respondent. Because only the trial court has the authority to resolve the legal issues raised, it is improper to rely upon expert witnesses to tell the trial court how to apply the law.

Respondent also suggested below that Petitioner had failed to develop a sufficient record on what topics Respondent discussed in secret. Through this litigation, Respondent freely admitted what specific topics it discussed covertly, so there is no dispute that these identified topics were discussed in executive session. The only legal issue to be resolved is whether this secrecy is justified

⁶Petitioner objected to Respondent's reliance on expert witnesses in its attempt to usurp the authority of the trial court to decide the issues of law, citing Syllabus Point 10 of *France v. Southern Equipment Co.*, 225 W.Va. 1, 689 S.E.2d 1 (2010), where the West Virginia Supreme Court held:

Prior to the June 19, 2020 meeting of one of Respondent's committees, the published Meeting Agenda identified the following topics that might be addressed in executive session:

- (a) Deliberative matters regarding Fiscal Year 2020 and 2021 budgets, including current year retention and enrollment;
- (b) Matters relating to improvements to, or potential contractual relationships regarding facilities, infrastructure, and real property;
- (c) Potential strategic initiatives relating to academic health sciences priorities, corporate collaboration, and legislative and regulatory matters; and,
- (d) Confidential legal, personnel, and deliberative matters relating to West Virginia University's ongoing response to the COVID-19 pandemic. (JA at 15).⁷

During this same meeting, Respondent discussed the school's budget, the business college, emergency pay policy, federal Title IX regulations, tuition and fees, capital projects, the coronavirus pandemic, and the athletic director's comments regarding the upcoming football season. (JA at 4-5). This Meeting Agenda does not provide any notice to the public that many of these specific issues would be discussed in executive session. Elmer Coppoolse, a member of Respondent, revealed during the public part of this meeting that while they were in executive session, Respondent discussed the demands and concerns expressed by members of the black community on campus in a petition. (JA at 5). Once again, this issue was not included in the Meeting Agenda.

under the WVOGPA. Obviously, neither Petitioner nor any other citizen litigating a WVOGPA case is required to take the depositions of all members of the governing body to learn what topics were discussed in executive session.

⁷Respondent acknowledged that its Meeting Agendas attached to the original complaint, but which inadvertently were omitted from the Amended Complaint filed a couple of days later, are true and correct copies. (JA at 41).

In the July 24, 2020 Meeting Agenda, Respondent notified the public that one topic to be discussed would be "West Virginia University's ongoing response to the COVID-19 pandemic." In this same Meeting Agenda, Respondent listed WVU's response to the pandemic as an issue that may be discussed in executive session. (JA at 17). How WVU was going to respond to the pandemic also was listed as a possible executive session topic in the Meeting Agendas issued for the meetings held on August 14, 2020, September 4, 2020, and September 18, 2020. (JA at 19-24).

In its Answer to Petitioner's Amended Complaint, Respondent admitted "that it appropriately held portions of its meetings on June 19, 2020, July 24, 2020, August 14, 2020, September 4, 2020, and September 18, 2020 in executive session to discuss, among other things, confidential legal, personnel, and deliberative matters relating to the University's ongoing response to the COVID-19 pandemic and a petition received from the University's Black community." (JA at 000041). Respondent further admitted that during this meeting, the following were discussed in executive session: "(1) deliberative matters regarding Fiscal Year 2020 and 2021 budgets, including current year retention and enrollment; (2) matters relating to improvements to, or potential contractual relationship regarding facilities, infrastructure, and real property; (3) potential strategic initiatives relating to academic health sciences priorities, corporate collaboration, and legislative and regulatory matters; (4) matters related to the petition received from the University's Black community; and (5) confidential legal, personnel, and deliberative matters relating to the University's ongoing response to the COVID-19 pandemic." (JA at 42). Finally, Respondent admitted the following topics were discussed in the September 18, 2020 meeting: "(1) deliberative matters regarding Fiscal Year 2020 and 2021 budgets, including current year retention and enrollment; (2) matters relating to improvements to, or potential contractual relationship regarding facilities, infrastructure, and real property; (3) potential strategic initiatives relating to academic health sciences priorities, corporate

collaboration, and legislative and regulatory matters; and (4) confidential legal, personnel, and deliberative matters relating to the University's ongoing response to the COVID-19 pandemic." (JA at 43).

The public will never know what other topics may have been discussed in executive session because Respondent does not provide any transcript of these secret meetings to the public. Furthermore, the public will never know what the members of Respondent actually said about these aforementioned topics. The only way the public has any knowledge about some of the topics Respondent discussed under this "cone of silence" is based upon these after-the-fact admissions in its answer to Petitioner's Amended Complaint.

In the first round of cross motions for summary judgment, the trial court orally held at the end of the January 5, 2022 hearing that Respondent had complied with the WVOGPA when it went into executive session to discuss WVU's ongoing response to the COVID-19 pandemic, matters related to a petition received from WVU's black community, and WVU's budgets. The written order from this hearing was not entered by the trial court until more than a year later on February 27, 2023. (JA at 600-11).

On March 28, 2022, a hearing was held on the pending motions and cross motions for summary judgment relating to the remaining topics that had been discussed secretly by Respondent in executive session. At this hearing, the trial court only heard the arguments of counsel and no testimony was presented. On April 28, 2023, the trial court entered its final order upholding the ongoing secrecy of Respondent when dealing with issues of great public importance. (JA at 612-28).

IV. Summary of the argument

The people in delegating authority do not give their public servants the right to decide what is good for them to know and what is not good for them to know. The people insist on remaining

informed so that they may retain control over the instruments of government created by them. The WVOGPA clearly and forcefully mandates that the meetings of governing bodies must be open to the public. Specifically, W.Va.Code § 6-9A-3(a) broadly requires, "all meetings of any governing body shall be open to the public[,]" except as expressly and specifically provided by law or by section four of Article 9A. The WVOGPA provides that there be "only a few clearly defined exceptions," to the requirement that governing bodies of public agencies conduct their proceedings openly.

Courts should accord an expansive reading to the WVOGPA's provisions to achieve its far-reaching goals and the fundamental purpose of the open meeting law is to ensure the right of the public to be fully informed regarding the conduct of government business. When in doubt, the members of any board, agency, authority or commission should follow the open-meeting policy of the State. In applying the WVOGPA, a common sense approach is required; one that focuses on the question of whether allowing a governing body to exclude the public from a particular meeting would undermine the WVOGPA's fundamental purposes.

The plain language of W.Va.Code §6–9A–3, expressly requires a public body to make available to the public, in advance of a scheduled meeting, the agenda for said meeting. The purpose of this notice requirement is to fulfill the Legislature's stated policy of maintaining an open government and providing public access to information. Under the WVOGPA, using generic language in the agenda notice simply is not sufficient to advise the public, in advance of the meeting, about the specific topics that are going to be discussed.

Any matter requiring official action by the governing body should be listed on the agenda, employing language that will reasonably place the public and the media on notice of the particular items that will be considered during each meeting. Generic descriptions are insufficient to satisfy

this requirement. The West Virginia Supreme Court has never issued a decision under the WVOGPA concluding that the failure to comply with its notice requirements somehow can be ignored by labeling the violation as merely being "technical." The failure to provide adequate notice before a public meeting is a violation of the WVOGPA and the governing body involved must be held accountable.

A governing body is not permitted to close a meeting that otherwise would be open merely because an agency attorney is present. Although the West Virginia Supreme Court did recognize that the discussions of matters that are covered by the attorney-client privilege can be the basis for an exception from the public meeting requirement under the WVOGPA, the Court nevertheless held that such exemption must be narrowly drawn so as to not abrogate the spirit and purpose of the Act. Pursuant to both decisions in *Peters*, Respondent was required to present testimony *in camera* prior to the final hearing in this case. Because Respondent chose not to provide the trial court with any testimony to review *in camera* during the final hearing held in this case on March 28, 2022, it waived its opportunity to meet its burden on this issue.

There is no exception in the WVOGPA for matters that might be exempt under the WVFOIA, but only for matters that are not "public records," as defined by the WVFOIA. *See* W.Va.Code § 6-9A-4(b)(12). Indeed, all records exempt under the WVFOIA are "public records," for the simple reason that anything outside the definition of a "public record" is not even subject to the WVFOIA. There is a presumption of public accessibility to all public records, subject only to the following categories of information which are specifically exempt from disclosure under this article. Thus, the extremely limited reference in the WVOGPA to the WVFOIA focuses exclusively on any matter THAT IS NOT A PUBLIC RECORD.

Neither of the parties provided the trial court with any decision any where in the country holding that the exceptions to the production of public records under the FOIA are incorporated into the exceptions available under an open governmental meetings law. Respondent repeatedly suggested below that deliberative matters are exempt from the WVOGPA when, in fact, the WVOGPA specifically was designed to permit the public to have access to the deliberations of governing bodies to better understand how final decisions in issues of public import were reached. It is not enough simply for the public to learn about a final decision rendered by a governing body; the public has the right to observe the deliberations that informed the making of any final decision.

The "commercial competition" exception to the WVOGPA has never been addressed in any detail by the West Virginia Supreme Court. Because the scope of this phrase must be understood in the context of the WVOGPA, where these exceptions must be narrowly construed, this Court should apply various rules of statutory construction in an effort to understand what the Legislature meant by "commercial competition." The legislative intention is the controlling factor; significance must be given to every section, word or part of the statute; the words of a statute are to be give their ordinary and familiar significance and meaning; and the general words, under the rule of construction known as *ejusdem generis*, will be construed as applicable only to persons or things of the same general nature or class as those enumerated, unless an intention to the contrary is clearly shown.

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