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

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

This Court should uphold the circuit court’s rulings finding the Board committed no 

substantive violation of the WVOGPA.  West Virginia’s open meeting requirements are not 

without exception. See W. Va. Code § 6-9A-4. As the circuit court ruled, each of the topics 

challenged by Petitioner falls within an express exception to the WVOGPA. This Court reviews 

the final order and ultimate disposition of the lower court under an abuse of discretion standard. 

Syl. Pt. 1, Peters v. County Comm’n of Wood Cnty., 209 W. Va. 94, 543 S.E.2d 51 (2000). On the 

unrebutted factual record below, the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in granting summary 

judgment to the Board. 

Between June 2020 and September 2020, small portions of five of the Board’s meetings or 

subcommittee meetings (June 19, 2020; July 24, 2020; August 14, 2020; September 4, 2020; and 
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September 18, 2020) were held in executive session.  See JA 600–01, Circuit Court Order I at 1–

2.  The unrebutted evidence below demonstrated (1) the Board complied with all statutory 

prerequisites to enter executive session for portions of these meetings and (2) the nine topics at 

issue properly fit within one of two statutory exceptions to West Virginia’s open meetings law.   

The WVOGPA’s general rule favoring open meetings is subject to a number of exceptions. 

See W. Va. Code §§ 6-9A-3, 6-9A-4. As relevant here, the exceptions permit governmental 

meetings to be held in executive session (a) “[t]o consider matters involving or affecting the 

purchase, sale, or lease of property, advance construction planning, the investment of public funds 

or other matters involving commercial competition, which if made public, might adversely affect 

the financial or other interest of the state or any political subdivision” (the “commercial 

competition” exception); and (b) “[t]o discuss any matter which by express provision of federal 

law or state statute or rule of court is rendered confidential, or which is not considered a public 

record within the meaning of the [West Virginia Freedom of Information Act]” (the “deliberative 

process” exception).  W. Va. Code §§ 6-9A-4(b)(9) & (12).  The West Virginia Freedom of 

Information Act (“WVFOIA”), in turn, expressly provides that internal, deliberative memoranda 

prepared by a public body are not subject to public disclosure requirements.  See W. Va. Code § 

29B-1-4(a)(8). For each meeting at issue, the Board entered executive session in reliance on one 

or both of these exceptions. 

The circuit court correctly ruled that each closed-session topic challenged by Petitioner 

falls outside the ambit of the WVOGPA’s open meetings laws:  

• The University’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic: The Board’s discussion 
of the administrative response to the COVID-19 pandemic involved issues that 
were commercially competitive in nature such that premature disclosure would 
harm the financial interests of the University. The discussion was based on a pre-
decisional, deliberative memorandum provided by University Administration 
(which is not considered a public record within the meaning of WVFOIA) and was 
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not subject to the open meetings requirements for this independent reason. These 
conversations allowed the Board to provide advice and counsel on operational 
decisions reserved for the Administration, and the Board took no formal action 
while in executive session.   
 

• Discussion of University budgets: The Board’s preliminary discussion of 
University budgets was closely related to the unique challenges posed by the 
COVID-19 pandemic, and implicated the same commercial concerns. This 
discussion was likewise based on internal memoranda supplied by the 
Administration.  

 
• Social justice concerns: The Board’s limited discussion about a petition raising 

concerns about social justice on campus following George Floyd’s murder was a 
matter “involving commercial competition.” If made public prematurely, the 
University’s response to the petition and the concerns it expressed might adversely 
affect the financial interests of the University.  

 
• Talk with the athletic director: The University’s athletic director made a 

presentation to the Board’s finance subcommittee during the executive session held 
on June 19, 2020. The presentation focused on planning for athletic events in light 
of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. This discussion involved matters of a 
commercially competitive nature which would harm the University if prematurely 
disclosed.  

 
• Business college and capital projects: The Board reviewed information while in 

executive session about the impact of COVID-19 on various capital projects, 
including the new business college. This briefing fell under the commercial 
competition exception of the WVOGPA. As with the other topics, concerns about 
capital projects were presented to the Board’s committee by the Administration in 
an internal, deliberative memorandum.  

 
• Emergency pay policy and tuition and fees: The Administration’s preliminary 

deliberations over the COVID-19 pandemic included consideration of whether to 
extend an emergency pay policy. The Administration also brief the Board on Fiscal 
Year 2020 and 2021 budgets while in executive session, within the context of 
considering the University’s response to the ongoing pandemic. These preliminary 
discussions were commercially competitive in nature and based on information set 
forth in the Administration’s internal memoranda.  

 
• Title IX regulations: The Board entered executive session to receive counsel from 

its attorney, the general counsel for the University. The discussion was privileged 
in nature and centered on updates to Title IX regulations and recommendations for 
their implementation at the University. Privileged communications are exempted 
from the open meetings requirement.  
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Like the court below, this Court should reject Petitioner’s narrow reading of the 

WVOGPA’s exception for commercial competition. The statute allows the governing body of a 

public agency to discuss in closed session “matters involving or affecting the purchase, sale or 

lease of property, advance construction planning, the investment of public funds or other matters 

involving commercial competition.” W. Va. Code § 6-9A-4(b)(9) (emphasis added). Petitioner 

argues that this exception applies only if the matters of commercial competition involve the 

investment of public funds. Pet. Br. 26–28. The argument finds no support in the plain text of the 

statute and should be rejected.  

The Court should similarly dismiss Petitioner’s textual challenge to the “deliberative 

process” exception of the WVOGPA, W. Va. Code § 6-9A-4(b)(12). Pet. Br. 23–24. The WVFOIA 

exempts “internal memoranda or letters received or prepared by any public body” from public 

disclosure. W. Va. Code § 29B-1-4(a)(8). The WVOGPA allows a governing body to discuss 

documents exempted from the WVFOIA in closed session. W. Va. Code § 6-9A-4(b)(12). The 

circuit court properly ruled that if a document is not subject to public disclosure under WVFOIA, 

a public body’s discussion of that document may occur in executive session. JA 626, Circuit Court 

Order II at 15. Accordingly, the Board did not violate the WVOGPA when it entered executive 

session to discuss the internal, deliberative memorandum prepared by the Unviersity’s 

Administration, including Vice President Alsop.    

Next, the Court should reject Petitioner’s arguments regarding the Board’s privileged 

communications with its counsel. The Act expressly permits a public body to close its meetings to 

receive the legal advice of its attorney. W. Va. Code § 6-9A-4; Syl. Pt. 2, Peters v. Cnty. Comm’n 

of Wood Cnty., 209 W. Va. 94, 543 S.E.2d 651 (2000). In accordance with the Act, the Board 

entered executive session on June 19, 2020, to receive a briefing from its attorney on regulatory 
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changes impacting the University. Petitioner’s refusal to participate in the discovery process left it 

with a misimpression about the nature of the briefing. Once it became clear that Petitioner 

challenged the Board’s assertion of attorney-client privilege, the Board submitted an affidavit from 

the University’s general counsel, along with the privileged memorandum for in camera review. 

JA 507–11; JA 520–23. The Board committed no violation of the Act by discussing privileged 

matters in closed session and followed proper procedure for submitting evidence of the privileged 

discuss for the lower court’s review.  

Petitioner raises an assignment of error alleging inadequate notice in the June 19, 2020 

agenda of the Board’s finance subcommittee. The Board provided a public agenda in advance of 

the meeting which described in detail the topics it expected to discuss in executive session. JA 

349. Petitioner alleges the agenda lacked sufficient detail based on a public statement made by a 

Board member after the executive session had concluded. JA 614, Circuit Court Order II. Petitioner 

did no discovery to confirm what was discussed or inquire into the Board’s reasons for entering 

closed session on this occasion. See JA 615, Circuit Court Order II at 4. The affidavits of Vice 

President Alsop, who was present for the entire subcommittee meeting, describe in detail the topics 

discussed in executive session and make clear that each topic was identified on the public agenda 

released in advance of the meeting. See JA 351–58; JA 368–73.  

The circuit court found that the agenda lacked sufficient specificity but awarded no relief 

to Petitioner. JA 623, Circuit Court Order II at ¶ IV.A. This was well within the circuit court’s 

discretion. W. Va. Code § 6-9A-7. Even if the Court finds the agenda needed to be more 

descriptive, the circuit court’s decision not to award relief should not be disturbed.  

Petitioner’s final assignment of error asks this Court to award attorneys’ fees as a remedy. 

Even if the Court reverses the lower court and finds that the Board violated West Virginia’s open 
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meetings laws – and to be clear, the Board firmly believes there was no such violation – the 

appropriate remedy is not for this Court to decide. W. Va. Code § 6-9A-7; see Capriotti v. Jefferson 

Cnty. Planning Comm’n, No. 13-1243, 2015 WL 869318, at *8 (W. Va. Feb. 26, 2015) 

(memorandum decision). The Court should refuse Petitioner’s request for relief because this 

decision rests exclusively with the lower court.  

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

The West Virginia Open Governmental Proceedings Act “balance[s] the[] interests” of the 

public affected by governmental decision making and the decision makers themselves by favoring 

public meetings, subject to certain exceptions. The circumstances in which a public agency may 

close its meetings, consistent with those exceptions, is an issue of fundamental public importance. 

W. Va. R. App. P. 20. The Board requests Rule 20 oral argument.   

IV. ARGUMENT 
 
A. The WVOGPA Permits Governing Bodies to Hold Closed Sessions When 

Necessary to Carry Out the Business of Government. 
 

The WVOGPA’s general rule is that “all meetings of any governing body shall be open to 

the public.” W. Va. Code § 6-9A-3. This openness inures to the benefit of both the government 

decisionmakers and the public they serve. See id. § 6-9A-1. Open meetings promote public 

education and participation while encouraging preparation and thorough debate on the part of 

government officials. See id.  As a governing body subject to the WVOGPA, the Board recognizes 

the benefits of open government and adheres strictly to the law’s mandates. See W. Va. Code § 6-

9A-2(4) (defining a governing body as “members of any public agency having the authority to 

make decisions for or recommendations to a public agency on policy or administration”).  

The general rule is not without limitation. Indeed, the WVOGPA expressly states that it 

would be “unrealistic, if not impossible, to carry on the business of government should every 
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meeting, every contact and every discussion seeking advice and counsel in order to acquire the 

necessary information, data[,] or intelligence needed by a governing body were required to be a 

public meeting.” W. Va. Code § 6-9A-1. The government simply cannot carry out its duties if all 

meetings are open to the public. See id. Accordingly, the Act allows the governing body of a public 

agency to enter executive session in certain delineated circumstances. See W. Va. Code § 6-9A-4 

(setting out exceptions to the open meetings requirement).  

The WVOGPA’s exceptions are the result of the Legislature’s reasoned balancing of the 

interests at stake: the public’s need for open government, on the one hand, and the government’s 

particularized, legitimate need for privacy, on the other. See W. Va. Code § 6-9A-4. When a matter 

to be discussed falls within an exception, the Act allows the governing body to enter executive 

session to discuss the matter in a closed meeting. Id.  

The WVOGPA endorses twelve exceptions to the open meetings rule, W. Va. Code § 6-

9A-4, though only two are relevant to Petitioner’s appeal. The Board relied on the exceptions set 

forth in subsections (b)(9) and (b)(12) in entering each executive session at issue. As relevant here 

and as outlined by these exceptions, the Act allows a governing body to enter executive session to 

take the following actions: 

To consider matters involving or affecting the purchase, sale or lease of property, 
advance construction planning, the investment of public funds or other matters 
involving commercial competition, which if made public, might adversely affect 
the financial or other interest of the state or any political subdivision . . . . 
 
[and] 
 
To discuss any matter which, by express provision of federal law or state statute or 
rule of court is rendered confidential, or which is not considered a public record 
within the meaning of the [West Virginia] Freedom of Information Act[.] 

 
W. Va. Code §§ 6-9A-4(b)(9), (b)(12).  
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Subsection (b)(9) protects a public agency’s sensitive commercial interests from public 

scrutiny. It allows a governing body to convene in closed session to discuss matters of commercial 

competition which might adversely impact the public’s interest if exposed prematurely. Subsection 

(b)(12) preserves the privacy of confidential government matters, including discussions protected 

by the attorney-client privilege, and the discussion of documents appropriately designated as 

confidential. 

The circuit court committed no error in endorsing the Board’s interpretation of the 

WVOGPA. The Board properly relied on the (b)(9) and (b)(12) exceptions – and issued public 

agendas providing notice of its intent to do so – in entering each closed session challenged by 

Petitioner.  

B. The Lower Court Did Not Err in Finding that the Board’s Preliminary 
Discussions About the University’s Response to the Ongoing Coronavirus 
Pandemic and Social Justice Issues Are Exempted from West Virginia’s Open 
Meetings Law.  
 

i. With the exception of the privileged discussion with its counsel, all topics 
at issue fit within the “commercial competition” exception.  

 
The lower court correctly found that the University’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic, 

including preliminary discussions relating to University budgets, tuition and fees, and University 

athletics, and an emergency leave policy sufficiently implicate matters of commercial competition 

that premature disclosure could adversely affect the University’s interests. The Board’s closed 

discussion of a petition raising concerns about social injustice on campus, in the unique 

environment following George Floyd’s death, was exempt from the public meetings rules for the 

same reason.  

COVID-19 Response. As set forth above, the WVOGPA authorizes the Board to enter 

executive session to discuss “matters involving commercial competition, which if made public, 
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might adversely affect the financial or other interest of the state.” W. Va. Code § 6-9A-4(b)(9). 

The University Administration’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic is such a matter, as are its 

preliminary discussions over the University budget and issues relating to social justice on campus. 

JA 608–10; JA 624–25; see also JA 351–57, 368–72. The COVID-19 pandemic was a public 

health crisis of unprecedented scale. The uncontroverted evidence below demonstrates that the 

University was diligent in working to preserve the health of its students, faculty, and staff and 

produced a flood of information detailing its efforts in doing so. See JA 355–56.  The issue 

presented here is whether the University’s response to COVID-19 sufficiently implicates matters 

of commercial competition so premature disclosure could adversely affect the University’s 

interests. W. Va. Code 6-9A-4(b)(9). The lower court held that it did. JA 608–10; JA 624–25.  

Indeed, the uncontroverted evidence of record demonstrated that the University’s COVID-

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